RECEIVED

NOV 26 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-10-00955

Appellate Case No. 2019-000238

Ex Parte:

Builders Mutual Insurance Company and Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, Appellants,

In Re:

Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium Property Owners Association, Inc., and Jack Love, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Plaintiffs,

v.

Island Pointe, LLC; Leonard T. Brown; Complete Building Corporation; Tri-County Roofing, Inc.; Creekside, Inc.; American Residential Services, LLC d/b/a Rescue Rooter Charleston; Andersen Windows, Inc.; Atlantic Building Construction Services, Inc. n/k/a Atlantic Construction Services, Inc.; Christopher N. Union; Builder Services Group, Inc. d/b/a Gale Contractor Services; Novus Architects, Inc. f/k/a SGM Architects, Inc.; Tallent and Sons, Inc.; W C Services, Inc., CRG Engineering, Inc.; Certainteed Corporation; Kelly Flooring Products, Inc. d/b/a Carpet Baggers and John Doe 1-60.....Defendants.

Tri-County Roofing, Inc.....Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Cornerstone Construction and Mark Malloy d/b/a Cornerstone Construction; Gutter Works, Inc. and Michael L. Segars d/b/a Gutter Works; Mr. Gutter; Litchfield Seamless Gutters & Windows, LLC and Thomas Litchfield d/b/a Litchfield Seamless Gutter; Miracle Siding, LLC and Wilson Lucas Sales d/b/a Miracle Siding, LLC; Mark Palpoint a/k/a Micah Palpoint; Elroy Alonzo Vasquez; and Chris a/k/a John Doe 61.....Third-Party Defendants.

RECEIVED

NOV 26 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

And

Complete Building Corporation, Inc.....Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Alderman Construction; Stanley's Vinyl Fence Designs; Cohen's Drywall; and Mosley Concrete.....Third-Party Defendants.

Of whom Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium Property Owners Association, Inc. and Jack Love, individually, and behalf of all others similarly situated, Tri-County Roofing, Inc., Stanley's Vinyl Fence Designs, and W C Services, Inc. are the Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT BUILDERS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY**

---

John L. McCants, Esquire  
Rogers Lewis Jackson Mann & Quinn, LLC  
PO Box 11803 (29211)  
1901 Main Street, Suite 1200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
Tele: (803) 978-2834  
Fax: (803) 252-3653  
jmccants@rogerslewis.com  
Attorney for Appellant Builders Mutual Insurance  
Company

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Authorities ..... iii.

Statement of Issues on Appeal .....1.

Statement of Case .....2.

Standard of Review .....6.

Argument .....7.

Statement of Facts .....7.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING BUILDERS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY TO INTERVENE ON A LIMITED BASIS WHEN BINDING CASE LAW COMPELS INTERVENTION .....10.

**A) The Circuit Court Did Not Provide a Reason for Denying the Motion to Intervene.....10.**

**B) Intervention Should Be Liberally Granted, Analyzed For The Pragmatic Consequences, and a Circuit Court Should Avoid Rigid Applications of Rule 24, SCRPC.....11.**

        1) Builders Mutual’s Application Was Timely .....12.

        2) Builders Mutual Does Have an Interest Relating to the Property or Transaction Which is the Subject of the Action; and Builders Mutual is in a Position That Without Intervention the Disposition of the Action May Impair or Impede its Ability to Protect That Interest .....15.

            a) South Carolina Insurance Coverage Law For Construction Defect Claims Is Well Established On What Damages Are Insured Versus Uninsured.....17.

            b) South Carolina Supreme Court Decisions Compel an Insurer To Take Some Action to Allocate Damages in a Construction Defect Case In Order to Litigate Insurance Coverage in a Declaratory Judgment Action .....18.

                i) Background for Newman and Heritage Communities .....18.

                ii) Heritage Communities Does Not Abrogate or Limit Newman .....22.

iii) <u>Circuit Courts Interpret <i>Newman</i> and <i>Heritage Communities</i> to Require Intervention</u> .....	23.
iv) <u>Persuasive Authority Cited in <i>Heritage Communities</i> Places the Burden on the Insured and Judgment Creditor to Allocate Damages</u> .....	24.
3) <u>Builders Mutual’s Interests Are Not Adequately Represented by Existing Parties</u> .....	26.
C) <b>A Declaratory Judgment Action Does Not Protect an Insurer From a General Verdict</b> .....	28.
D) <b>Intervention and Special Interrogatories Are Workable Civil Procedures</b> .....	32.
E) <b>Palmetto Pointe and Tri-County Roofing Should Bear the Legal Consequences of a General Verdict</b> .....	36.
II. <b>THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN LIFTING THE AUTOMATIC APPEAL STAY WHEN THE CIRCUIT COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO DO SO</b> .....	38.
Conclusion .....	41.
Certificate of Service	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

South Carolina Cases

Arnal v. Fraser, 371 S.C. 512, 641 S.E.2d 419 (2007) .....38, 39.

Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Newman, 385 S.C. 187, 684 S.E.2d 541 (2009).....14, 17, 18,  
.....19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 26, 27, 28, 29, 32, 33, 36, 38.

Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Rhodes, 405 S.C. 584, 748 S.E.2d 781 (2013).....29, 30.

Bennett & Bennett Constr., Inc. v. Auto Owners Ins. Co., 405 S.C. 1, 747 S.E.2d 426 (2013)...17.

Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 302 S.C. 186, 394 S.E.2d 712 (1990) .....6,  
.....11, 12, 26.

Bailey v. Bailey, 312 S.C. 454, 441 S.E.2d 325 (1994) .....16.

Bradley v. Hullander, 266 S.C. 188, 222 S.E.2d 283 (1976).....38.

Crossmann Communities of N.C., Inc. v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co., 395 S.C. 40, 717 S.E.2d 589  
(2011).....14, 17, 21, 22, 23.

Davis v. Jennings, 304 S.C. 502, 450 S.E.2d 601 (1991).....36.

Ex parte Reichlyn, 310 S.C. 495, 427 S.E.2d 661 (1993) .....12.

Fesmire v. Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 683 S.E.2d 803 (Ct. App. 2009).....6.

Gov't Employee's Ins. Co., Ex parte, 373 S.C. 132, 644 S.E.2d 699 (2007).....15, 16.

Harleysville Grp. Ins. v. Heritage Communities, Inc., 420 S.C. 321, 803 S.E.2d 288 (2017)...13,  
.....18, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 26, 28, 29, 31, 33, 36, 37, 38.

Hutto v. Southern Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 259 S.C. 170, 191 S.E.2d 7 (1972).....22.

Jourdan v. Boggs/Vaughn Contracting, Inc., 324 S.C. 309, 476 S.E.2d 708 (1996).....30.

Kinghorn as Trustee for the Mildred Ann Kinghorn Trust dated 28 April 2004 v. Sakakini, 426  
S.C. 147, 825 S.E.2d 748 (Ct. App. 2019).....10.

Lancaster v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 403 S.C. 136, 742 S.E.2d 867 (2013) .....39.

Major v. Nat'l Indem. Co., 267 S.C. 517, 229 S.E.2d 849 (1976) .....25, 36.

Mitchell v. Fed. Intermediate Credit Bank, 165 S.C. 457, 164 S.E. 136 (1932).....37.

<u>Pittman Mortg. Co., Inc. v. Edwards</u> , 327 S.C. 72, 488 S.E.2d 335 (1997).....	19.
<u>Sentry Select Ins. Co. v. Maybank Law Firm, LLC</u> , 426 S.C. 154, 826 S.E.2d 270 (2019) ..	27, 28.
<u>Shearer v. DeShon</u> , 240 S.C. 472, 126 S.E.2d 514 (1962) .....	22.
<u>Sims v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.</u> , 247 S.C. 82, 145 S.E.2d 523 (1965) .....	28, 30, 31, 32.
<u>Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson</u> , 416 S.C. 517, 787 S.E. 485 (2016) .....	41.
<u>Tillman v. Oakes</u> , 398 S.C. 245, 728 S.E.2d 45 (Ct. App. 2012) .....	39, 40.
<u>Trancik v. USAA Ins. Co.</u> , 354 S.C. 549, 581 S.E.2d 858 (Ct. App. 2003).....	29, 36.

Other State Cases

<u>Universal Underwriters Ins. Corp. v. Reynolds</u> , 129 So. 2d 689 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1961).....	25.
---	-----

Federal Cases

<u>Columbia Insurance Company v. Reynolds</u> , 225 F. Supp. 3d 375 (D.S.C. 2016).....	29.
<u>Duke v. Hoch</u> , 468 F.2d 973 (5th Cir. 1972) .....	24, 25, 26, 33, 35, 37, 38.
<u>Ellett Bros., Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity &amp; Guar. Co.</u> , 275 F.3d 384 (4th Cir. 2001).....	30.
<u>Farm Bureau Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Hammer</u> , 177 F.2d 793 (4th Cir. 1949) .....	31.
<u>Fidelity Bankers Life Ins. Co. v. Wedco, Inc.</u> , 102 F.R.D. 41 (D. Nev. 1984) .....	33.
<u>Morris v. Western State Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.</u> , 268 F.2d 790 (7th Cir. 1959) .....	25, 37.
<u>Plough, Inc. v. Int'l Flavors and Fragrances, Inc.</u> , 96 F.R.D 136 (W.D. Tenn. 1982) .....	32.
<u>Public Citizen v. Liggett Group, Inc.</u> , 858 F.2d 775 (1st Cir. 1988) .....	36.
<u>Sagebrush Rebellion, Inc. v. Watt</u> , 713 F.2d 525 (9th Cir. 1983) .....	12.
<u>Thomas v. Henderson</u> , 297 F. Supp. 2d 1311 (S.D. Ala. 2003) .....	33.

Circuit Court Orders

Order of The Honorable John M. Milling, Special Referee, Harleysville Grp. Ins. v. Heritage Communities, Inc., - 2009-CP-26-11862 (February 28, 2013).....	20, 22, 23, 26, 31, 32.
--	-------------------------

Order of the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. - Beresford Commons Homeowners Association, Inc., v. Portrait Homes - South Carolina, LLC - 2013-CP-08-0179 (January 17, 2017).....	23, 24.
Order of the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. - Michael Ingram v. Lauder Bay Developers, LLC - 2017-CP-26-2854 (October 18, 2018) .....	23, 24.
Order of the Honorable Clifton Newman - The Harbour Cove Condominium Association v. Centex Homes - 2014-CP-26-7634 (October 12, 2017) .....	23.
Order of The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. - Andrew and Diane Corvey v. Hall Custom Homes of South Carolina - 2009-CP-26-6392 (March 21, 2011) .....	13, 23.

Statutes and Court Rules

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-15 (1976) .....	5, 10, 34.
S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-15(F) (1976).....	10.
S.C. Code Ann. § 38-61-70(B)(2) (1976) .....	17.
S.C. Code Ann. § 38-61-70(C) (1976) .....	18.
Rule 1.8(f), RCP, Rule 407, SCACR .....	27.
Rule 5.4(c), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR.....	27.
Rule 6, SCADR .....	12.
Rule 12, SCRCP .....	10.
Rule 24, SCRCP .....	2, 6, 11, 12, 15, 16, 20, 22, 32.
Rule 26(b)(3), SCRCP .....	12
Rule 49, SCRCP .....	2, 13, 20, 22, 32, 33.
Rule 52, SCRCP .....	10.
Rule 204(b), SCACR.....	3.
Rule 205, SCACR .....	3, 9, 38, 39, 40.
Rule 205(b), SCACR.....	39.
Rule 225, SCACR .....	40.

Rule 241, SCACR .....	4, 9, 38, 39, 40, 41.
Rule 401, SCRE .....	32.
Rule 402, SCRE .....	32.
Rule 611(a), SCRE .....	33.

Treastise

20 Am. Jur. (2d), <u>Courts</u> , § 190, pg. 526 (1965).....	22.
<u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> 68 (10th ed. 2014).....	41.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN NOT ALLOWING LIMITED INTERVENTION BY BUILDERS MUTUAL INSURANCE WHEN BINDING CASE LAW COMPELS INTERVENTION?

II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN LIFTING THE AUTOMATIC APPEAL STAY WHEN THE CIRCUIT COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO DO SO?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the circuit court's Form 4 Statement of Judgment/Order Denying Motion of Insurers for Limited Intervention dated December 17, 2018 and filed on December 18, 2018; (R. p. 4.) and the circuit court's Form 4 Order Denying Motion to Reconsider dated January 16, 2019 and filed on January 17, 2019. (R. p. 5.) Respondents Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium Property Owners Association, Inc.'s and Jack Love's, individually, and behalf of all others similarly situated (together "Palmetto Pointe") commenced Civil Action No. 2015-CP-10-00955 on February 13, 2015 in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County, SC, against numerous contractors, including Respondent Defendant Tri-County Roofing, Inc., ("Tri-County Roofing"), complaining about the construction of the buildings in the Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island development in Charleston County, SC (the "Civil Action"). (R. pp. 24-41; R. pp. 58-79.) Palmetto Pointe served Tri-County Roofing with its Summons and Complaint on February 26, 2015. (R. p. 655.) Tri-County Roofing tendered the defense for the Civil Action to Appellant Builders Mutual Insurance Company ("Builders Mutual") by letter dated January 15, 2018. (R. pp. 335-337.)

Builders Mutual issued insurance policies with commercial general liability coverage ("CGL") to Tri-County Roofing. Builders Mutual served its Notice of Motion and Memorandum in Support of Motion For Limited Intervention Pursuant to Rule 24, SCRPC, to Have Court Submit a Special Verdict Form and/or General Verdict Form Accompanied by Answer to Interrogatories Pursuant to Rule 49, SCRPC, on March 22, 2018. (R. pp. 97-113.) Other insurers for Defendants in the Civil Action also filed similar motions seeking to intervene. Tri-County Roofing filed its Memorandum in Opposition to Builders Mutual Insurance Company's Motion to Intervene on December 14, 2018. (R. pp. 305-314.) Palmetto Pointe served its Memorandum

in Opposition to Motions to Intervene on December 13, 2018. (R. pp. 272-304.) The Motion to Intervene, as well as the other insurers' motions, were first scheduled for a hearing and came before the circuit court on December 17, 2018.

The circuit court filed its Order Denying Motion to Intervene on December 18, 2018. On December 27, 2018, Builders Mutual filed and served its Notice of Motion and Motion to Reconsider Form 4 Judgment in Civil Case Denying Motion to Intervene. (R. pp. 315-337.) The circuit court filed its Order Denying Motion to Reconsider on January 17, 2019. (R. p. 5.)

Builders Mutual filed and served its Notice of Appeal on February 19, 2019 to appeal the Order Denying Motion to Intervene and the Order Denying Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 341-344.) Builders Mutual filed a Motion to Transfer the Case to the South Carolina Supreme Court on February 27, 2019 pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR. (R. pp. 345-352.) Palmetto Pointe filed a response with the Supreme Court stating that it took no position with regard to the Motion to Transfer the Case. (R. pp. 353-355.) The Supreme Court issued an Order dated May 30, 2019 granting the Motion to Transfer the Case.

On April 3, 2019, Defendant Complete Building Corporation ("Complete Building"), and other Defendants, filed their Motion for Continuance of Trial (Expedited Hearing Requested). (R. pp. 356-361.) On April 5, 2019, the circuit court issued its Order Staying Case that reads as follows: "[p]ursuant to Rule 205 and 241 of the SCACR, upon review of the Notices of Appeal filed by Builders Mutual Insurance Company and Nautilus Company on February [19], 2019, and the Notice of Appeal filed by Nationwide Insurance Company on February 28, 2019, the Appellate Court has exclusive jurisdiction over this case at this time. Therefore, the case is hereby STAYED." (R. pp 6-8.)

On April 16, 2019, Palmetto Pointe filed its Motion for Reconsideration of and/or Relief from Order Staying Case and/or Petition to Lift Stay or Otherwise Modify Any Stay as May be Necessary for this Case to Proceed as Scheduled to Trial On the Merits Beginning on May 6, 2019. (R. pp. 362-462.) On April 22, 2019, Builders Mutual served its Memorandum in Opposition by Appellant Builders Mutual Insurance Company to Petition to Lift Stay. (R. pp. 463-487.)

On April 25, 2019, the circuit court issued a Form 4 that states, "Plaintiff's Petition to Lift the Automatic Stay is granted and trial will proceed [on] May 6, 2019." (R. p. 9.) On April 26, 2019, Builders Mutual filed its Petition Pursuant to Rule 241(d)(7), SCACR, on Behalf of Appellant Builders Mutual Insurance Company to Review Circuit Court Order Lifting Appeal Stay (Expedited Relief Requested) for the Honorable H. Bruce Williams to review the decision of the circuit court. (R. pp. 488-501.) On April 29, 2019, Palmetto Pointe filed its Plaintiff-Respondents' Return to Petition of Appellant Builders Mutual Insurance Company for Review of Circuit Court Order Lifting Stay and Cross-Motion to Dismiss Appeal, Grant Limited Remand, or Otherwise Confirm That Trial May Proceed as Scheduled. (R. pp. 502-523.) The Honorable James E. Lockemy issued an Order for the Court of Appeals on May 1, 2019, stating, "Appellants motions requesting that this court stay the trial court to begin trial May 6, 2019 are denied. The trial may proceed as scheduled. The motion to dismiss this appeal is denied." (R. pp. 10-12.)

Starting on May 6, 2019, the circuit court presided over a jury trial involving Tri-County Roofing and other Defendants in the Civil Action. On May 16, 2019, the jury returned a general verdict in favor of Palmetto Pointe against Tri-County Roofing, and other Defendants, in the amount of \$6,500,000.00 in actual damages and \$500,000.00 in punitive damages. (R. pp. 13-

16.) Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-15 (1976), the circuit court held an apportionment hearing wherein the jury apportioned five (5%) percent of the \$6,500,000,00 verdict to Defendant Wilson Lucas Sales d/b/a Miracle Siding and five (5%) percent of the \$6,500,000,00 verdict to Defendant Eloy Vasquez. (R. p. 17.) The jury also found that Completed Building Corp. was entitled to indemnity from Tri-County Roofing in the amount of \$1,000.00. (R. p. 15.)

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision to grant or deny a Rule 24(a)(2), SCRCP, motion is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 302 S.C. 186, 394 S.E.2d 712 (1990). An appellate court exercises de novo review of questions of law. Fesmire v. Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 683 S.E.2d 803 (Ct. App. 2009).

## ARGUMENT

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Complete Building constructed the Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island condominium development. (R. p. 28, ¶ 12.) The development consists of forty townhome style condominiums located in twenty buildings and a clubhouse. (R. p. 27, ¶ 4.) For part of the construction, Complete Building subcontracted with Tri-County Roofing for the company to install the roofs, siding and deck coatings for the construction of buildings. (R. p. 28, ¶ 14.)(R. pp. 64-65, ¶ 12.) The buildings were constructed in 2006 and 2007. (R. p. 274, 3<sup>rd</sup> Paragraph.)

Palmetto Pointe commenced the Civil Action alleging that the exterior cladding on each of the buildings and the clubhouse, including the roofs, siding and deck coatings, were constructed incorrectly. (R. p. 29-30, ¶¶ 20-29.) Palmetto Pointe alleged that such faulty construction then led to progressive weather-related moisture damages to framing and sheathing behind the cladding of each building:

“The latent building defects in combination with fortuitous weather, repeated water intrusion and/or other events have resulted in consequential damage to other building components and other property.” (R. p. 29, ¶ 22.)

“A preliminary inspection of Palmetto Pointe evidences failure of one or more components [of] the exterior building envelopes; water intrusion into and through the exterior building envelope; and resulting consequential damage to non-defective building components, structural members, and other property. Inspection also reveals failure of various and sundry building components, with consequential damages resulting there from. (R. pp. 29-30, ¶ 23.)

“Upon information and belief, the water intrusion and resulting consequential damages have occurred and have been occurring each and every year since the completion of construction and constitute ‘occurrences’ of ‘property damage’ under the standard and/or typical general liability policies.” (R. p. 30, ¶ 29.)

To support its claims for damages, Palmetto Pointe produced an itemized estimate for repairs that includes the removal and replacement of the (allegedly defectively installed) roofs, siding and deck coatings on each building and repairs to moisture damaged framing and sheathing. (“Estimate”). The itemized estimate states that the total cost to repair for the twenty buildings and clubhouse would be approximately \$15,257,512.00. (R. p. 653.) The estimate segregates and itemizes the cost to remove and replace the siding, roofs and deck coatings separately from the cost to repair weather damaged sheathing and framing and segregates the cost to remove and replace the other claddings on the buildings. (R. pp. 643-653.)

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