THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 02 2019

S C SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-10-00955
Appellate Case No. 2019-000238

Ex Parte:

Builders Mutual Insurance Company and
Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company,

Appellants,

In Re:

Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium
Property Owners Association, Inc., and Jack Love,
Individually, and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

v.

Island Pointe, LLC; Leonard T. Brown; Complete
Building Corporation; Tri-County Roofing, Inc.;
Creekside, Inc.; American Residential Services,

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

company] lacked standing because *[the insurance company] does not have an interest in the subject matter of the family court action.* Stated differently, [the insurance company] has no real interest in whether Cooper and Goethe have a valid common law marriage. *[The insurance company's] interest is in the financial implications of the family court's decision, which is peripheral to the subject matter before the court. This interest is insufficient to warrant [the insurance company's] intervention in Cooper's family court action under Rule 24(a)(2), SCRCP.*" (emphasis added). Indeed, even the plain language of Rule 24(b)(2), governing permissive intervention, requires that the "applicant [for intervention] [has a] claim or defense *in the main action . . .*" (emphasis added).

Moreover, the plain—and mandatory—language of Rule 24(c) expressly requires that a motion to intervene "*shall be accompanied by a pleading setting forth the claim or defense for which intervention is sought.*" (emphasis added). The fact that Appellants did not do this shows that they did in fact fail to comply with Rule 24. The fact that they could not possibly have done this (i.e., that they did not actually have any claim or defense to plead) shows that they do not have a sufficient interest in this case's subject matter to intervene under Rule 24. And the fact that Rule 24 affirmatively requires a would-be intervenor to plead their claim

¹² (E.g., Br. of Nationwide Mutual at Statement of Issues on Appeal, Issue I.)

or defense shows that Appellants' attempt at "limited" intervention here was simply misplaced from the start.

B. *Newman and Heritage* do not require an insurer to intervene in an underlying action in order to establish facts for allocating between covered and non-covered damages. And such a practice would be unworkable in any event, creating an impermissible conflict of interest and unduly interfering with the proper adjudication of the case on the merits.

In his dissent in *Heritage*, former Chief Justice Pleicones noted, "To the extent the majority relies upon *Newman* to suggest [the insurer] is 'at fault in not seeking an allocation of covered damages,' . . . there is no suggestion how [it] could have intervened in the[] [underlying] lawsuits and asserted a defense against coverage without creating an impermissible conflict of interest in violation of established South Carolina law." 420 S.C. 321, 363, 803 S.E.2d 288, 311 (2017) (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (citing *Sims*, 247 S.C. 82, 145 S.E.2d 523). Most respectfully, *to the extent the Heritage majority was indeed relying on Newman in this way*, Justice Pleicones makes a good point.

Even though Justice Pleicones was writing in dissent, *Sims* itself is still good law. *Sims* addressed the extent to which an insurer is bound in respect to the question of coverage by facts found in the underlying action against its insured. While acknowledging the general rule that, yes, "where an insurance company has notice and opportunity to defend an action against its insured, the company is bound by pertinent material facts established against its insured, whether it appears

in the defense of the action or not,” 247 S.C. at 84–85, 145 S.E2d at 524, the *Sims* Court recognized that this rule can only apply where the respective interests of the insurer and the insured in opposing the claim against the insured are identical, i.e., it can only apply where there is not a conflict of interest between the insurer and the insured, and that there is a conflict of interest between them—such that the rule cannot apply—where the insurer “cannot defend the insured . . . and at the same time protect its own interests.” *Id.* at 88, 145 S.E.2d at 525–26. The very fact that Appellants have sought to “intervene” for the purpose of protecting their own interests is proof positive that this conflict exists here—a point which Appointed Counsel’s inability to even take a position on Appellants’ motions in the trial court well illustrates.

And more recently, in *Sentry Select Insurance v. Maybank Law Firm, LLC*, 426 S.C. 154, 826 S.E.2d 270 (2019), while holding that an insurer can bring a direct action for legal malpractice against the defense counsel it retained to defend its insured, this Court addressed concerns that allowing such an action would divide the attorney’s loyalty between the client and the insurer. In overcoming those concerns, the Court underscored that it is the insured, not the insurer, who is the attorney’s client; that it is the insured, not the insurer, to whom the attorney owes fiduciary responsibilities; and that it would be a violation of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct for the attorney to permit the insurer to

interfere with the attorney's independent professional judgment or the client-lawyer relationship. *See Id.* at 160, 826 S.E.2d at 273.

If indeed the “limited” intervention Appellants sought is required, how would it—indeed, how *could* it—actually work in practice? Any verdict a jury renders must, of course, be based on the evidence presented. *See Bultman v. Barber*, 277 S.C. 5, 281 S.E.2d 791 (1981) (verdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture or speculation). And, by definition, an intervening insurer would want the jury to answer a question(s) that it otherwise would not have had to answer, i.e., question(s) unnecessary to a determination of the merits, which, but for the injection of insurance coverage matters into the case, never would have been asked. Would not this require additional evidence to be presented to the jury that otherwise would not have had to be presented? If so, who is supposed to introduce, or object, to this evidence (whether documentary or testimonial)? Surely, Appointed Counsel cannot be involved in this, given the conflict of interest; but, of course, the insurer's coverage counsel cannot appear before the jury. *See* Rule 411, SCRE (“Evidence that a person was or was not insured against liability is not admissible upon the issue whether the person acted negligently or otherwise wrongfully.”). And this is to say nothing of the rights of all parties—including, of course, plaintiffs, and other defendants for whom coverage is not an issue—to have their respective claims and defenses fairly

determined in a proceeding free of undue complexity, confusion, and improper influence. *Cf. Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 404, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008) (“A jury charge consisting of irrelevant and inapplicable principles may confuse the jury and constitutes reversible error where the jury’s confusion affects the outcome of the trial.”); Rule 403, SCRE (“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”); Rule 1, SCRCP (“These rules . . . shall be construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.”).¹³

¹³ Both South Carolina courts and other jurisdictions recognize insurer intervention is inappropriate, even for the limited purpose of posing special interrogatories. *See S.C. Tax Comm’n. v. Union County Treasurer*, 295 S.C. at 262, 368 S.E.2d at 75 (affirming denial of intervention, noting permissive intervention is premised on the theory that claims or defenses share common questions of law or fact and is only practical when it would effectively eliminate the need for a duplicative proceeding); *accord Restor-A-Dent Dental Labs., Inc. v. Certified Alloy Prods., Inc.*, 725 F.2d 871 (2d Cir. 1984) (affirming denial of insurer intervention when insurer argued “that a general verdict would make difficult, if not impossible, a precise determination as to the allocation of the jury’s award and alleged that its intervention would not delay or impede the action” because, inter alia, the insurer had no great need for the relief sought and intervention by an insurer who supplied the insured’s attorney could deter a settlement or could create a conflict of interest); *High Plains Coop. Ass’n v. Mel Jarvis Constr. Co., Inc.*, 137 F.R.D. 285 (D. Neb. 1991) (same); *Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. v. E. Cent. Alabama Ford-Mercury, Inc.*, 574 So. 2d 716 (Ala. 1990) (affirming trial court’s denial of motion to intervene, reasoning, “when an insurer refuses to defend or defends under a reservation or rights, the insurer is not precluded from determining the coverage issue in a declaratory judgment

Having said all this, given the obvious importance of Justice Pleicones's point *if* the *Heritage* majority were relying on *Newman* in the way he questions, the only reasonable conclusion that can be drawn from the fact that the majority did not address it is that the majority was *not* relying on *Newman* in that way. *Cf. State ex rel. McLeod v. Montgomery*, 244 S.C. 308, 314, 136 S.E.2d 778, 782 (1964) (“However plain the ordinary meaning of the words used in a statute may be, the courts will reject that meaning, when to accept it would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature, or would defeat the plain legislative intention; and if possible will construe the statute so as to escape the absurdity and carry the intention into effect.”) (quoting *Stackhouse v. Rowland*, 86 S.C. 419, 422, 68 S.E. 561, 562 (1910)).

Moreover, as referenced above, in *GEICO*, 373 S.C. 132, 644 S.E.2d 699, a decision which neither *Newman* nor *Heritage* addresses, much less overrules, this Court flatly held that an insurer's mere financial interest in the outcome of litigation is insufficient to warrant intervention. *GEICO* was an insurance company's appeal of the family court's denial of its motion to join (pursuant to

action either before or after the resolution of the underlying action”); *Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa. v. Bakker*, 917 F.2d 22 (4th Cir. 1990) (Unpublished Disposition) (reasoning that if the insurer were allowed to intervene in the underlying action in which its insureds are parties, the court “would be concerned with [the insurer's] intolerable position in the litigation that is potentially hostile to its own insureds”).

Rule 19, SCRCP) or intervene (pursuant to Rule 24) in a proceeding involving the validity of a common law marriage between Ronnie Cooper (“Cooper”) and Yolanda Goethe (“Goethe”). *Id.* at 134, 644 S.E.2d at 700. The insurance company had issued an auto insurance policy to Goethe under which Cooper claimed he was a Class I insured, and therefore entitled to stack its UIM coverage, because of his common law marriage to Goethe. *Id.* It was after the insurance company denied his claim to stack coverage that Cooper filed the family court proceeding (seeking an order validating his common law marriage to Goethe) into which the insurance company sought to join or intervene. *Id.* Despite the insurance company’s contention that “the family court’s decision on the parties’ common law marriage would impact [its] ability to protect its interests under the insurance policy issued to Goethe,” the family court denied the insurance company’s motion. *Id.* at 135, 644 S.E.2d at 700.

In affirming the lower court’s denial of the insurance company’s motion to join or intervene, this Court held that, “although [the insurance company] may be affected by the outcome of the family court action,”¹⁴ its interest in the family court action was nonetheless insufficient to meet the requirements for joinder or intervention, explaining that the insurance company had “no real interest in the subject matter before the family court,” only an “economic interest under the

¹⁴ *Id.* at 136, 644 S.E. 2d at 701.

Goethe policy [that was] merely tangential to the family court action.” *Id.*; see also *id.* at 138–39, 644 S.E.2d at 702 (“We find that [the insurance company] does not have ‘an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action’ as required by Rule 24(a)(2), SCRCF. Additionally, we hold that the family court correctly found [the insurance company] lacked standing because [the insurance company] does not have an interest in the subject matter of the family court action. Stated differently, [the insurance company] has no real interest in whether Cooper and Goethe have a valid common law marriage. [The insurance company’s] interest is in the financial implications of the family court’s decision, which is peripheral to the subject matter before the court. This interest is insufficient to warrant [the insurance company’s] intervention in Cooper’s family court action under Rule 24(a)(2), SCRCF.”).

The United States District Court for the District of South Carolina¹⁵ reached the same conclusion in the federal context with facts parallel to those at hand:

[The insurance company] contends that because it would be required to fund at least part of Plaintiff’s recovery *if* coverage under the Policy exists, it is the real party in interest and thus has an interest in the subject matter of this action. By this very statement, however, [the insurance company] acknowledges that is nothing more than a contingent interest in the present action as there has yet to be an adverse coverage determination by this Court in the declaratory judgment action filed by [the

¹⁵ South Carolina Rule 24 and Federal Rule 24 are identical in substance.

insurance company] on April 8, 2013. *[The insurance company] does not have an interest in the subject matter of this action, that is, Mr. Lewis's allegedly negligent operation of the Boat that, in turn, led to Mrs. Lewis's tort claim for damages against Defendants. Instead, [the insurance company's] interest is the amount it may have to pay Defendant Excel if Plaintiff wins. Stated differently, [the insurance company's] interest is in how much of any future award may be attributable to damages contemplated by the policy. . . .* In so holding, the Court is also persuaded by the well-established policy of preventing insurers who reserve the right to deny coverage from controlling the defense brought against its insured.

Lewis v. Excel Mech., LLC, 2013 WL 3762904 at *2 (D.S.C. July 16, 2013) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).¹⁶

Appellants do not have an interest in the property that is the subject of this action—Plaintiffs' homes. They do not have an interest in the underlying transaction that is the subject of this litigation—the development and construction

¹⁶ Courts sitting in other jurisdictions have similarly found that an insurer does not have a “direct, substantial, and protectable interest” in intervening for the limited purpose of proposing special interrogatories or submitting special verdict forms to the jury so that the theories on which the jury’s verdict is based can be determined. *See, e.g., Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Dingwell*, 884 F.2d 629, 641 (1st Cir. 1989) (affirming district court’s rejection of insurer’s claim to intervention as of right); *Cooke v. Town of Colorado City, Ariz.*, 2013 WL 5302194 at *4 (D. Ariz. Sept. 19, 2013) (denying intervention of insurer when the insurer’s interest in the litigation was limited to questions of coverage); *Folkstone Mar., Ltd. v. CSX Corp.*, 1989 WL 165059 at *4 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 28, 1989) (“The Insurers’ interest arises solely from their contract with CSX, and the Insurers concede that their right of subrogation does not ripen until they have made a payment to CSX under the insurance contract.”); *E. Cent. Alabama Ford-Mercury, Inc.*, 574 So. 2d at 722.

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